
Corporate, Customer and Community Services Directorate
Legal and Democratic Services  Cumbria House, Botchergate,  Carlisle, 

Cumbria  CA1 1RD Tel 01228 606060  Email 
democratic.services@cumbria.gov.uk

1

To:  The Chair and Members of the Scrutiny 
Advisory Board - Adults

Agenda
SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD - ADULTS

A meeting of the Scrutiny Advisory Board – Adults will be held as follows: 

Date: Thursday 28 June 2018
Time: 10.00 am
Place: Conference Room,Cumbria House, Botchergate, Carlisle 

CA1 1RD

NB A PRE-MEETING OF THE BOARD WILL BE HELD AT 9.30AM IN THE 
CONFERENCE  ROOM TO WHICH ALL MEMBERS ARE ENCOURAGED TO ATTEND. 

Dawn Roberts
Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to: Stewart Consterdine
Direct Line: 07979541437
Email: stewart.consterdine@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the People of Cumbria



2

MEMBERSHIP

Conservative (6) Labour (4) 
Mr A Bowness
Mr GRPM Roberts
Mr LN Fisher
Mr K Hitchen
Mr J Mallinson (Vice-Chair)
Mr D Gawne

Mrs C Bowditch
Mr M Wilson (Chair)
Mr F Cassidy
Ms C McCarron-Holmes

Liberal Democrat (3)
Mr W Clark
Mr A Connell
Mr N Cotton

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Agenda and Reports

Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting.

The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website – 
www.cumbria.gov.uk  

Background Papers

Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to the Democratic Services Unit at the address 
overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday.

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/


3

A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.  

2  MEMBERSHIP

To report and note changes to the membership of the Board  

3  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority 

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b)  Which has not been fully discharged. 

4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.  

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.  

6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial 
interest.

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where



4

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).   

4  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda.  

5  MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Scrutiny Advisory Board 
– Adults held on   19 March 2018   (copy enclosed).  (Pages 7 - 12)

6  ADULT SOCIAL CARE CHARGING POLICY

To receive a report including an early analysis of the consultation response, how they 
will be actioned and what the next steps will be.
  (Pages 13 - 22)

7  SOCIAL WORK PRACTICE - NEW WAYS OF WORKING - STRENGTH BASED 
APPROACH

To receive a report on how the Council is proactively working to prevent, reduce and 
delay the need for formal care provision. By acting as an organisation that proactively 
recognises and embraces talents, strengths and assets. Role for Scrutiny to assist in the 
developing and testing of new ideas that will identify the model of Social Work Practice 
in the future.
  (Pages 23 - 44)

8  DEPRIVATION OF LIBERTY STANDARDS.



5

To receive a report providing an analysis of DoLS activity since bringing the service back 
in house to the Council in October 2017. To describe the actions taken and planned to 
deal with the volume of applications.
  (Pages 45 - 56)

9  SAFEGUARDING ADULTS AT RISK FROM ABUSE AND NEGLECT

To receive the quarterly report on Safeguarding, incorporating information on Domestic 
Homicide reviews.
  (Pages 57 - 66)

10 ADULT SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD BRIEFING

To consider items not covered elsewhere in the Board agenda, report from Performance 
Working Group and to agree the work programme.
  (Pages 67 - 70)

11 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Scrutiny Advisory Board – Adults is scheduled for 10 October 
2018 at 10.00 am in Committee Room 1, County Hall, Kendal.
  



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD - ADULTS

Minutes of a Meeting of the Scrutiny Advisory Board - Adults held on Monday, 19 
March 2018 at 10.00 am at Committee Room 1, County Offices, Kendal

PRESENT:

Mr M Wilson (Chair)

Mr A Bowness
Mr W Clark
Mr A Connell
Mr N Cotton
Mr GRPM Roberts

Mr WJ Wearing
Mr K Hitchen
Mr J Mallinson
Mr LN Fisher

Also in Attendance:-

Peter Thornton, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health and Care 
Services

-

Mr S Consterdine - Democratic Services Officer
Mr D Stephens - Strategic Policy & Scrutiny Advisor
Ms A Halliwell - Senior Manager Safeguarding and Care Governance
Ms S Simpson - Senior Manager,  Children, Health & Care 

Commissioning

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

84 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Mrs C McCarron Holmes, Mr F Cassidy 
and Mr K Hitchen.

An apology was also received Mr D Gawne and Mr W Wearing attended as 
substitute.

85 MEMBERSHIP

Mr D Fairbairn has been replaced on the Committee by Mr L Fisher.

7

Agenda Item 5



2

86 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Mrs C Bowditch declared a personal interest in item 6 as she is a carer and her son 
is in receipt of benefits.

87 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED - that the press and public be admitted to the meeting for all items of 
business

88 MINUTES

Mr GRPM Roberts was not in attendance at this meeting.

Item 81 page 11 in the list of Joint Health and Adults Advisory Group should read “ 
Derek Gawne”.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 18 January 2018 be 
agreed.

89 ALL AGES CARERS CHARTER

The report was presented by Sharon Simpson, Senior Manager - Children's 
Commissioning.
 
The report was to allow Adults Scrutiny Board to provide input into the All Age 
Carers’ Charter at an early stage of its development. 

At the last meeting of the Adults Scrutiny Board it was agreed that the Board have 
another opportunity to consider the Charter in greater depth to provide member 
input on the development of an All Age Carers Charter.

Issues from the report were discussed and a question was asked about what the 
objective of the charter was.

Sharon Simpson, Senior Manager, Children's Commissioning explained that the 
Charter will help to identify all carers, not only the ones which are paid but those in 
the hidden population who need the help and support’

It was suggested that the Charter include a definition of what the meaning of 
‘Carers’ is so it is clear who is covered by the Charter. 

Also the Board requested a vision statement which states the purpose of the 
Charter to be circulated to all members of the Board. 

8



3

A question was asked if there was a list of the proposed carer organisations   and 
consultees before the start of the consultation period to enable members of the 
Board to identify and additions that could be made.

Sharon Simpson, Senior Manager, Children’s commissioning, said that a list would 
be provided to Board members.

The Board thought it was appropriate for a meeting between the Scrutiny Advisory 
Board Children and Young People, Sharon Simpson, Senior Manager, Children's 
Commissioning and members of the Scrutiny Advisory Board Adults for issues to be 
discussed and enable the Scrutiny Advisory Board Children and Young People to 
input their perspective in this respect.

Sharon Simpson, Senior Manager, Children's Commissioning, informed the Board 
that if they have any further questions they would like to ask they could e-mail her 
and she would reply as soon as possible.

RESOLVED:-

 that the Charter to include a definition of what we mean by ‘Carers’ being 
clear who is covered by the Charter. 

 that the Charter to include an overarching vision statement clearly stating the 
purpose of the Charter, this statement to be circulated to the members of the 
Board.

 that the members of the Board to be provided with a list of proposed list of 
consultees, carers organisations etc. prior to the start of the consultation 
period, for Members to identify any additions. 

 that a meeting to be convened with members of Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Advisory Board and Sharon to address the issues discussed and get 
further input from and Children’s Scrutiny perspective. Involving members 
from the Scrutiny Advisory Board Adults.

90 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS AT RISK FROM ABUSE AND NEGLECT

The report was presented by Adrianne Halliwell, Senior Manager, Safeguarding and 
Care Governance

The report provided members of the Board an update and analysis of adult 
safeguarding activity in quarter 3 of 2017/18.  It also briefed Members on progress 
against the key areas of performance relating to Making Safeguarding Personal and 
described the actions planned to strengthen or consolidate improvements in Adult 
Safeguarding in Cumbria.

Adrianne Halliwell, Senior Manager, Safeguarding and Care Governance pointed 
out that there had been a significant increase in the number of concerns raised. This 
is to be welcomed as it is a sign that people are being encouraged to raise 
concerns.

9



4

A question was asked concerning the number of “Other” in the list of Source of 
Alerts/Concerns/Enquiries.

Adrianne Halliwell, Senior Manager, Safeguarding and Care Governance,
explained that further work is being undertaken with the data recording team to 
identify what can be done to improve the way people self identify when recording 
concerns.

A further question was asked if information was being shared.

Adrianne Halliwell, Senior Manager, Safeguarding and Care Governance explained 
that a board has been set up, Cumbria Safeguarding Adults Board, to improve 
information sharing and reports will be shared with the Board as a part of future 
reports.

A Board member raised the question of why the Community Hospital in Brampton 
Hospital was not included in the list of Sources of Alerts/Concerns/Enquiries for the 
last three quarters.

Adrianne Halliwell, Senior Manager, Safeguarding and Care Governance explained 
that some areas report to the police and Community Safeguarding and will not show 
on the figures. She will examine why there have been no concerns recorded at the 
Community Hospital in Brampton and will report back to the Board member.

RESOLVED:

 that the ‘Other’ category in the source of concern is still a substantial 
proportion, further work to be undertaken with data recording team to analyse 
what can be done to improve the way people self identify when recording a 
concern

 that Improvements in the way that GPs and the Hospital Trusts report on the 
Safeguarding concerns they have raised are then recorded and reported the 
Clinical Commissioning Groups. Work undertaken by multi-agency group 
which reports to Safeguarding Adults Board to be reported the Scrutiny Board 
as part of future reports. 

 that an examination as to why there has been no concerns raised by the 
Community Hospital at Brampton in the last three quarters and report back to 
the Board member.

91 ADULT SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD BRIEFING

This briefing was introduced by Mr David Stephens, Strategic Policy and Scrutiny 
Adviser.

The briefing paper informed members of the Board of new or updated items of 
significance to the Adult Scrutiny Advisory Board.

10



5

During a discussion of the briefing a member of the Board asked for clarification on 
point 3.2 of the report as to who “public health” were.

Mr David Stephens, Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Adviser explained that this was 
the public health team within Cumbria County Council.

Peter Thornton, Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services, gave an update on 
the day services review.

He explained that discussions are currently under way with various departments 
within Cumbria County Council with regards to the review so specific details of the 
proposals can be produced. The Local Committees were also being involved to help 
shape what is happening. 

Peter Thornton, Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services, went on to update 
the Board in the main areas being reviewed.

Extra Care

Matters are moving on as planned and some of the schemes are near o the building 
stage.

There will be a review of strategy in the summer.

The Board agreed that it was important that the schemes delivers what is required 
and that the Scrutiny Advisory Board Adults can help support and influence the way 
forward.

A question was asked if this strategy is happening in other Authorities.

Peter Thornton, Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services, advised that this 
was not at present known however this will be investigated during the review in the 
summer.

Day Services

There is to be a review of the Day Services and presentations are currently being 
made to Local Committees.

The report will outline the engagement process, which had already been 
undertaken, and what is planned with regards to staff, service users and members. 
This will be brought to the Board at a future meeting.

Cumbria Care

Peter Thornton, Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services, advised that the low 
occupancy figures were a concern. The County Council is not allowed to direct 

11



6

occupants to Council run premises as it is an open market and people have freedom 
of choice.

A question was raised concerning the occupancy of the new home in Barrow.

Mr David Stephens, Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Adviser. Advised the Board that 
he would request these figures and bring them to a future meeting.

Integration

Members were informed that the CQC Review of the Health and Care System in 
Cumbria was now expected to report in May.

A question was asked concerning the amalgamation of Adults and Children Social 
Care in the current restructure of the Extended Leadership Team. A  concern was 
expressed that the Special Teams in these individual areas, who deal with various 
disabilities, would still be there following the amalgamation.

Peter Thornton, Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services, explained that the 
assumption is that they would as by bringing the teams together will give whole of 
life care. This is a high level restructure and will be properly thought through.

RESOLVED:-

 that the occupancy figures requested for the new Care Home in Barrow be 
provided for the Board.

 that the Day Services Review to be picked up at the June meeting.
 that a report be presented at the October meeting in respect of the Extra 

Care Housing review.

92 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Scrutiny Advisory Board – Adults is on 28 June 2018 in the 
Conference Room, Cumbria House, Botchergate, Carlisle.

The meeting ended at 12.05 pm

12



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – ADULTS

Meeting date: 28th June 2018

From: Paul Latimer Senior Manager Adults

Consultation results on care charging policy for adult 
social care services.

1.0 Purpose of Report

The purpose of this report is to update scrutiny on the results from the consultation 
on current proposal to review fees and charges across Health Care and Community 
Services Directorate in relation to the following proposals; 

Proposal 1 - Arrangement fee to full paying non-residential service users
Proposal 2 – changes to how much a person pays for non-residential services 
Proposal 3 – changes to the administration fee for deferred payments

1.2 In summary, the desired outcomes from the proposals will:     

 Increase income generation by the Council  (in line with legislation) to support 
the continued delivery of services to vulnerable people

 Maximise fees and charging opportunities (within legislative requirements.) 

 Achieve a sustainable platform for charging against services and provisions 
within the Health, Care and Communities directorate. 

 Determine a clear policy and approach for to fees and charges for statutory and 
non-statutory services for the future.

 This will require formal consultation on changes to the County Council’s 
Charging Policy. 

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

This report details the results following 3 month consultation ending on 9 
June 2018. 

13

Agenda Item 6



3.0 Background

3.1 The consultation ended on 9 June following a 3 month exercise. During this 
time Cumbria County Council wrote to 405 customers directly affected by 
these proposals, held 6 face to face consultation drop-ins, and enabled an 
online campaign to encourage people to have their say to help the Council 
develop a fair and consistent approach to charging for care, ensuring that 
everyone pays the appropriate amount for the services they receive, based 
on their ability to pay. 

3.2 In total 37 questionnaires were returned. The results of this are detailed 
below. Please note a return of 37 questionnaires would not give any 
reasonable statistical confidence to enable any general recommendations to 
be made following this consultation. 

3.3 Results

Question 1 

People were asked to tick the following;

 A parent or carer of someone who gets social care support from the county 
council

 Someone who gets social care support from the county council
 A relative or friend of someone who gets social care support from the county 

council

The results of this are follows;

 5 respondents identified themselves as a parent or carer. 
 15 respondents identified themselves as someone who gets social care 

support from the county council. 
 15 respondents identified themselves as a relative or friend of someone who 

gets social care support. 
 2 questionnaires left this question blank. 

Question 2

People were asked to identify whether they currently pay towards their care 
services or support?  

 24 respondents identify themselves as paying all the costs.  
 10 respondents identify themselves as paying some of the costs.
 3 respondents do not pay towards their costs. 

Question 3 

People were asked to consider the following “how strongly do you agree or 
disagree with the principles that people should contribute towards the cost of their 

14



non-residential adult social care if, subject to a financial assessment, it is 
established they can afford to do so.”

a) 4 customers “strongly agree.” 
b) 13 customers “Tend to agree.”
c) 5 customers “Neither agree nor disagree.”
d) 9 customers “Tend to disagree.”
e) 5 customers “Strongly disagree.”
f) 0 customers “Don’t know.”

1 questionnaire was left blank.  

Table 1

Question 3 results

There is a bias towards responders more in favour of people contributing towards 
the costs of their non-residential care services with 17 respondents (47%) either 
“tend to agree” or “strongly agree” and a total of 13 respondents (36%) either “tend 
to disagree” or “strongly disagree.”

Question 4 

Question 4 is specific to Proposal 1 – which refers to the proposal to introduce an 
arrangement fee to full paying non-residential service users, proposing a small flat 
rate weekly fee of around £4.50 to those people who are deemed able to pay for 
their own care which would contribute towards the Council’s overhead costs.

a) 3 respondents “Strongly agree” with this proposal
b) 5 tend to agree
c) 3 neither agree nor disagree
d) 10 tend to disagree
e) 14 strongly disagree
f)  1 don’t know
1 questionnaire did not answer this question.

15



Table 2

Question 4

Of the 37 questionnaires received 24 customers (65%) either tend to disagree or 
strongly disagree with the proposal to introduce a flat rate arrangement fee for full-
paying non-residential customers. 

Respondents were also given an opportunity to let us know what the impact of this 
proposal would have on themselves or their family. Not all respondents took the 
opportunity to provide a comment however below is a summary of some of the 
pertinent replies. The majority of responses came from the 24 customers who 
disagreed with the proposal, as follows; 

“use up savings very quickly as income will be less than outgoings.”

“I will have £20 a month less disposable income.”

“this change will not have a big impact.”

“at (the)moment I can just about manage to pay…(my care bill of £380.24 per 
week, but if this is to rise I would be forced to seriously consider the amount 
of care I receive.”

“£4.50 a week does not sound much but to people on fixed income it’s a 
pressure on finances. Perhaps to cover cost might go without food for a day 
or turn heating off.”

“already pay maximum for overpriced care profits not wages.”

“as all the clients monthly income is now paid to fund his care requirements 
any further charge will impact on his personal savings.”

16



“cause more financial aggravation and stress at an already difficult time.”

“yet again the elderly and frail are to be punished for working hard, saving 
money and abiding by the rules. I would consider negotiating privately with 
the care team rather than pay this fee.”

There was however three questionnaires where the customer tends to agree with 
the proposal who also provided a comment, as follows;

“any increased costs will just use up the capital that Miss T has quicker. In 
the long run the council will just incur more costs.”

“any increase in costs affect all our standard of living.”

However, there was one respondent who did agree with the proposal and 
provided the following comment;

“at £4.50 per week, the effect will be small.” 

Question 5

Question 5 relates to proposal 2 changes regarding how much a customer will pay 
for non-residential services. This proposal is specific to increasing the current 
ceiling from £478 per week to £580 per week. 

This question was split into 3 sections. 

5a Overall, how strongly do you agree or disagree that we continue to help 
offset the full cost of care packages in the home?

a) 19 respondents “Strongly agree”
b) 6 respondents “Tend to agree”
c) 4 respondents “Neither agree nor disagree”
d) 1 respondent “Tend to disagree”
e) 5 respondents “Strongly disagree”
f) 2 questionnaires failed to provide a response to this question. 

Table 3

17



Question 5a
As detailed, 67% of the respondents either agree or strongly agree that the council 
should continue to help offset the full cost of care packages for people living at 
home. 

5b Overall how strongly do you agree or disagree that for those who can 
afford it we should adjust the financial contribution of home care packages 
from £478 to £580 per week to help offset the rising costs of care? 

a) 2 respondents “Strongly agree”
b) 7 respondents “Tend to agree”
c) 3 respondents “Neither agree nor disagree”
d) 6 respondents “Tend to disagree”
e) 16 respondents “Strongly disagree”
f) 3 respondents answered “Don’t know”

Table 4

Question 5b

As detailed, over half of the respondents (57%) either disagree or strongly disagree 
that the council should increase the current ceiling from £478 to £580 per week. 

18



Respondents were also given an opportunity to provide a written response by 
describing the impact the proposal will have on you or your family? 

1 respondent who “neither agreed or disagreed” with the proposal stated the 
following;

“seems to be a large increase.”

1 of the “don’t know” respondents stated

“home care is keeping the person out of hospital and care homes.”

Of the 9 respondents who agreed with the proposal, 4 also provided a written 
response as follows;

“I do feel that the ceiling for those judged to afford it could be considerably 
raised.”

“do not have income of £580 per week.”

“but it is a big jump all in one go.”

“not clear at the moment, as care requirements are changing.”

Of the 22 respondents who disagree with the proposal, 15 also provided a written 
response. 

The responses fall into three thematic categories
 Older generation paying for care
 Unfair price increase. 
 Will need to reduce my care

Older generation paying for care
Three respondents considered this to be an unfair situation with comments ranging 
from,

“again, you are punishing those who have saved carefully all their lives,”

And “most of the older generation have worked hard and saved for retirement 
and now it will just to eaten up by care costs.”

Unfair Price Increase
On the second theme, a number of respondents have raised the issue that the 
increase is significant, for example;

“£478-£580 is a 21% increase. Can you please justify a 21% increase when 
inflation is running at 2.7% year on year.”

“how can you justify a rise of 21% when the national average percentage of 
cost of living is 1.4%-1.5% and national wage rise is 3%.”

19



“unfair to charge so much to one individual.”

“although (this cost has not increased since April 2017) it has in fact 
increased by over 55% since April 2014. I appreciate that CCC has significant 
challenges due to the rising costs associated with the delivery of care, 
however, I don’t feel that this increase is a fair and consistent approach to 
charging for care.”

Will need to reduce my care
Three respondents suggested that as a result of this proposal they would need to 
consider reducing the amount of care they currently receive to be able to afford the 
changes. 

“this would have a major effect on the use of services and would push us to 
reconsider whether we can afford to the present amount of care.”

Question 6

Question 6 asks respondents to comment on the changes to the administration fee 
for Deferred Payments, which concerns proposal 3. This proposal seeks to 
increase the administration fee for Deferred Payments as set out in the table below;

Revised administration fees for Deferred Payments
Current Proposed

  17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22
Set up Costs  1260 1,500 1,800 2,200 2,500
Annual Cost  374 400 425 450 500
Termination  52 75 75 75 75

In accordance with regulations made under the Care Act Councils can recoup the 
administrative costs associated with Deferred Payment Agreements which include 
(but are not limited to):

 Registering a legal charge with the Land Registry against the title of the 
property;

 Land Registry search charges and any identity checks required;
 Postage, printing and telecommunication charges;
 Costs of time spent by those providing the service;
 Cost of valuation and re‐valuation of the property;
 Costs for removal of charges against property.

Question 6 (and the final question on the questionnaire) is in two parts. Firstly 
respondents were asked to comment on the following;

20



Overall how strongly do you agree or disagree that for those who can afford it will 
see a gradually increase, over a four year period, of the administration fee 
associated with Deferred Payment Agreements, as detailed above. 

a) 2 respondents “Strongly agree”
b) 5 respondents “Tend to agree”
c) 3 respondents “Neither agree nor disagree”
d) 11 respondents “Tend to disagree”
e) 13 respondents “Strongly disagree”
f) 3 respondents “Don’t know”

Table 5

Question 6a

Overall 24 respondents (65%) either “tend to” or “strongly” disagree with this 
proposal. 

The second part of this question also gave respondents an opportunity to provide a 
written response. Although 8 responders took an opportunity to comment only 3 of 
the responses were pertinent to the actual question, as follows;

“the council is proposing a 7% rise when inflation is running at 2.7% year on 
year.”

“it is wrong to increase bills for those being forced to sell their homes.”

“I feel that the proposed changes seem excessive for the service provided.”

Conclusion and Next Steps

Due to the low return rate the results do not provide statistical confidence to draw 
any general conclusions or recommendations regarding these proposals. However, 
based on the returns more responders agree that people should contribute towards 

21



their care and support services if they can afford it, however, more than half of the 
responders disagreed with all three proposals to increase fees or introduce new 
fees. 

Next Steps

 Published notice on the Councils consultation webpage stating the outcome 
of the consultation and reaffirming the decision taken by Council in respect 
of fees and charges. Week ending 15 June 2018.

 Customers directly affected by these changes will be written to confirming 
their new contribution and the date these changes will be implemented on.

 Target implementation date 1 August. 

.
Paul Latimer
Senior Manager Operations Adults
8 June 2018

Please ensure that every part of this section where there is an asterisk* is completed in 
accordance with the instructions before sending the report to Legal and Democratic Services, 
(please delete this sentence, prior to release).

Appendices
No appendices

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions

- A report went to Cabinet on 1 Feb, Cabinet recommended to Council to agree the 
MTFP and specifically the fees and charges at Schedule C.

- A report went to Council on 17 Feb with the budget, Council specifically agreed the 
fees and charges at  Schedule C.

Background Papers

Previous scrutiny committee report. 

Contact: *Author of report, telephone number and e-mail address.
Paul Latimer
Paul.latimer@cumbria.gov.uk

22



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD - ADULTS

Meeting date: 28th June 2018

From: Catherine Whalley, Assistant Director (Deputy 
Director Adult Services), People Directorate

PROMOTING AND SUPPORTING INDEPENDENCE 
THROUGH STRENGTH BASED CULTURE AND PRACTICE

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to explain the work being undertaken in adult 
services to develop strength based practice and to support the emergence of 
a culture that promotes and supports independence. 

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 This paper has been requested by Scrutiny to support better understanding 
of the work to develop strength based practice. 

3.0 Background

3.1 In August 2017, analysis of Personal Budgets revealed significant numbers 
of recipients had accrued surplus money in their Direct Payment accounts.  
This was taken as an indicator that personal budget allocations may be 
greater than actual level of need.  

3.2 In response the Promoting and Supporting Independence project group was 
established and has been leading a programme of work that includes: 

 Undertaking Promoting Independence Reviews to ensure that the 
personal budget allocated is appropriate to level of need 

 Recouping surplus money from accounts

3.3 This work has led to significant recovery of monies back to the council, and 
has evidenced that there are opportunities to support our workforce and the 
citizens of Cumbria to achieve more independent outcomes/lives, with 
reduced levels of formal care and support. 

3.4 A dedicated Strength Based Practice work stream has been established 
(May 2018), tasked with developing tools and testing new ways of working 
and formulating implementation plans for roll out.  

23

Agenda Item 7



3.5 It is important to understand that this is about culture change – and it will not 
be achieved through one presentation – it is about changing how we all think 
and do things, which will take time, inspiration, passion, belief and evidence 
that working in this way really can have a positive impact upon people’s lives 
against a challenging backdrop of dwindling resources.

3.6 Through this work we will lead and inspire our workforce, and the people we 
work with to think differently, to recognise strengths, assets and 
opportunities, as oppose to focusing upon disabilities, gaps and barriers. 

3.7 Our aim is to provide an even better service for people.  Increasing their 
capacity for independence and resilience is pivotal to this.  

3.8 We want to achieve better outcomes for people, against a challenging back 
drop of spending less money

3.9 It is our ambition to nurture and embed a culture of promoting independence 
and recovery that enables people to enter and exit services in line with their 
needs.  

4.0 The journey so far …

4.1 Our workforce is our greatest asset – it is really important that we 
recognise and celebrate the strengths and assets we have.  There is a 
wealth of experience, skills and knowledge within Cumbria County Council, 
and it this, coupled with the passion that exists in our workforce that will drive 
our ambitions to become a strength based organisation.  

4.2 If our ambition is for our front line teams to proactively identify opportunities 
to promote and support vulnerable people to achieve their most independent 
lives, it is important that we as leaders are modelling behaviours and 
attitudes that value and recognise the strengths and talents that exist within 
our teams.  For example, I make a point of starting leadership meetings and 
managers forums with recognition and celebration of the achievements of 
teams and individuals since we were last together. 

4.3 Adult Social Care Managers Forum - In March, we held our first Adult
Social Care Managers Forum.  The focus was upon budget pressures and 
ambitions to drive a culture that recognises strengths and opportunities for 
independence.  We received really positive feedback from the managers 
who attended and valued the opportunity for engagement.

4.4 The second Adult Social Care Managers Forum took place on 18th May 
2018, and continuing to build upon the theme of the first, we invited finance 
colleagues along, who facilitated a fun, interactive workshop with Managers 
about budget, making it real for managers, so that they can better 
understand the role and responsibilities that they and the practitioners in 
their teams have to play in relation to addressing budget pressures.  This 
was followed by a session with Academic Lecturer (and independent social 

24



worker) from University of Lancaster, who came to present research into the 
benefits of strength based approaches and practice, based upon her own 
real experiences working with people deemed to lack capacity.  

4.4 The forums have been a great success so far – they are a great way to 
engage with our managers – and for them to engage with us and for us to 
keep in touch with what is working well – to share great practice and to 
identify opportunities for development.  

4.5 It is a forum for managers to come together to network and develop a shared 
understanding of the issues affecting adult social care.  We want to ensure 
colleagues receive the information they need in a consistent and timely way, 
so they have what they need to be able to do their jobs, and we want to hear 
about the great ideas that they have for shaping the future.  Involving our 
staff is helping to engender a sense of ownership of the issues, ensuring that 
everyone can see their role in the meeting the challenges ahead of us. This 
will support our vision to achieve a culture of continuous improvement, and a 
platform for sharing learning and best practice across the service.

5.0 Strength Based Presentation (Appendix 1):  The Promoting and 
Supporting Independence work stream, whose members include Snr 
Managers, Area Managers, Social Workers, Occupational Therapy, 
Reablement, and HaWC Manager have worked together to develop a 
strength based presentation.  This has been road tested at the Adult Social 
Care Team Managers Forum and with Learning Disability Teams.  Feedback 
has been positive, and the presentation has generated lots of discussion and 
ideas about the opportunities for change which is great.  Next steps are for 
the Strength Based Work stream to review the presentation against 
feedback, prior to presentation to C.M.T at the end of June.  Plans are being 
developed for wider roll out across adult social care teams – to use the 
presentation as a tool to raise awareness, and generate discussion that will 
support the shift to becoming an organisation that proactively recognises and 
embraces talents, strengths and assets.

6.0 Lancaster University - To give credibility and push the shift from a culture 
of deficit to one that recognises and celebrates strengths, where all our 
interactions seek to always achieve the most independent outcomes for our 
customers, we were delighted to have a  Lecturer from Lancaster University 
come along to our Adult Social Care Managers Forum.  It was a really 
powerful session that has provoked lots of conversations and plans are 
being developed to invite the lecturer, who is also an independent Social 
Worker, back to do further work with the teams.   

7.0 Promoting and Supporting Independence Hot Clinics - We are 
introducing 3 weekly Promoting and Supporting Independence Hot Clinics – 
to help:

o understand effectiveness of practitioner decision making
o understand practitioner commissioning activity 

25



o identify areas for improvement in practice
o identify areas where there are gaps in resources to help inform 

commissioning plans and market development.  
o ensure we are always working in ways that enable people to achieve 

their most independent outcome.
  

7.1 This work will take the form of action learning sets led and will bring together 
Social Workers, Occupational Therapists, Reablement, Health and 
Wellbeing Coaches, Team Managers and hopefully Assistive Technology 
leads.    

7.2 They will review random samples of cases where assessments/reviews have
 resulted in the commissioning of formal services, and will explore together,
 whether there were opportunities to achieve a more independent outcome.      

7.3 Experience has taught us, that by, bringing teams together to reflect on case 
work, and introducing models that nurture a culture of peer support and 
shared learning, it is possible to identify areas for development which can 
then be responded to in lots of different ways, including supervision, 
coaching, shadowing, action learning sets and formal training.  It is also a 
great opportunity for continuous professional development, sharing best 
practice, and ensuring that practice is safe, lawful and meets needs.  

7.4 Working in this way will improve practice, achieve financial efficiencies and 
support better outcomes on lots of levels, supporting practitioners and the 
people we work with to achieve the most independent outcomes.

8.0 Promoting and Supporting Independence Reviews and Assessments – 
Our ambitions for transformation are to embed a culture of promoting and 
supporting independence in to all the review and assessment work that we 
do – which will support more proportionate use of resources and ensure that 
we are proactive in working with people to achieve their most independent, 
safe outcome. 

8.1 Ensuring that all our assessment and review activity routinely promotes 
independence will require a shift in thinking away from formal service 
provision to one that recognises the strengths, talents and resources of the 
individual, and one which utilises the full suite of preventative interventions, 
including reablement, third sector, assistive technology, Community 
Development, voluntary sector, equipment and adaptations, HaWCs (and 
there are more ….).  All of this before thinking about expensive formal 
supports which should be reserved only for unmet needs.

9.0 In summary, this is about changing culture and practice and over the months 
ahead we will be working hard to turn the thinking into deliverable plans and 
measurable outcomes.  The work will include capturing the real lived 
experiences of our practitioners and the people who use our services, to tell 
us how we are doing, and where our opportunities for improvement are. 

26



Catherine Whalley
Assistant Director (Deputy DAS)

2nd June 2018

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Strength Based Presentation 

strength based 
practice v0.2.ppt

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

“No previous relevant decisions”.

Background Papers

No back ground papers

Contact:

Email:  Catherine.whalley@cumbria.gov.uk  
Tel: 01228 227110

27

mailto:Catherine.whalley@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Serving the people of Cumbria

Strength-Based
Practice

Promoting & supporting
independence

29



Serving the people of Cumbria

30



Serving the people of Cumbria

Case for change?
• Unprecedented health & social care

pressures
• Medical break throughs
• Supporting people to stay at home for longer
• Challenging financial backdrop
• The ‘ME’ test ….
BECAUSE WE WANT TO DO A GREAT

JOB

31



Serving the people of Cumbria

Why?
Because we do
better when we
build from what we
do well.

We do better when
we work from our
strengths

32



Serving the people of Cumbria

Strength Based Tool Box
• Strength based practice
• Asset based approach
• 3 conversation model
• Promoting independence
• Self directed support
• Person centred
• Personalisation
• 5 column approach

33



Serving the people of Cumbria

Moving from ‘what’s wrong to
what’s strong’

• From eligibility criteria and
assessments to enabling people to
have a good life.34



Serving the people of Cumbria

Right people at right
time

35



Serving the people of Cumbria

First conversation-
Connecting people

• What is important
• Groups and services in their community
• Assets and strengths of self,  family & neighbourhood

36



Serving the people of Cumbria

What are our current Assets
and strengths

• Asset based Community Development Teams
• Libraries and archives
• Registration services
• Family, friends and neighbours
• Strong voluntary and community sector
• Centred for Independent living
• Falls coordinators (until 2020)
• US J

37



Serving the people of Cumbria

38



Serving the people of Cumbria

Second conversation
Responding at time of crisis

• Immediate short term actions – sudden
change in circumstances

• No longer term plans would be made at
this stage

39



Serving the people of Cumbria

Our additional assets & strengths
• CCC duty function
• Integrated Care Communities
• Rehabilitation/ Reablement
• Intermediate care (health)
• Rapid Response
• Health & Wellbeing Coach
• All of US ! J

40



Serving the people of Cumbria

Third conversation-
planning for the longer term

• Folk already ‘in service’
• Explore what is already available
• Support through a crisis
• Ongoing need for formal support
• Resilience (contingency planning)
• Promoting Independence Reviews

41



Serving the people of Cumbria

Impact-
Prevent Reduce and Delay

• Help people achieve the outcomes that
matter to them in their life (they are the
experts!)

• There is a need to ensure that doing so
focuses on the needs and goals of the
person concerned.

42



Serving the people of Cumbria

End results
• Better outcomes that can be measured
• Embrace best practice
• Better value
• Building and bolstering the community
• More inclusive community
• Making a difference!

43



Serving the people of Cumbria

44



Briefing for Scrutiny Board

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards – DoLS

Update and analysis of current DoLS activity in Cumbria

Date: 14.06.18

PURPOSE OF REPORT

 To provide brief background to the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS) for adults service and the current situation and backlog of DoLS 
applications

 To demonstrate and quantify current volume of work in relation to DoLS in 
Cumbria

 To provide an update and analysis of DoLS activity since bringing the 
service back in house to the Council in October 2017 

 To describe the actions taken and planned to strengthen or consolidate 
improvements in the service

 To consider future options

1.0 BACKGROUND

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) were introduced into the Mental Capacity 
Act 2005 by the Mental Health Act 2007. DoLS provide a framework for approving 
the deprivation of liberty for people who lack the mental capacity to consent to 
necessary treatment in a hospital or care home. Local authorities, including Cumbria, 
have the responsibility for DoLS in their area and act as the ‘Supervisory Body’ for 
DoLS. Hospitals and care homes act as ‘Managing Authorities’ for DoLS who make 
applications for residents without capacity to the supervisory body for assessment. 
The DoLS process involves assessments by a specially trained Best Interest 
Assessor (BIA), and by a specially trained doctor, referred to as the Mental Health 
Assessor. The application for DoLS is then authorised by the Supervisory Body if 
appropriate.

There have been recent changes affecting DoLS. A Supreme Court judgment in 
2014 significantly widened the definition of deprivation of liberty, meaning more 
people were subsequently considered to have their liberty deprived. There was a 
ten-fold increase in the number of deprivation of liberty applications following the 
judgment. 

2.0 NATIONAL CONTEXT

It is nationally recognised that more DoLS applications are received than are 
processed and completed, thus leaving most local authorities with substantial 
backlogs of DoLS applications. Nationally:-

45

Agenda Item 8



 • There were 217,235 applications for DoLS received during 2016/17; an increase of 
11 per cent on 2015/16.

• The number of DoLS applications that were completed increased by 45 per cent to 
151,970 during the same period.

• The reported backlog of cases that were not completed as at year end increased by 
7 per cent to 108,545 over the year.

3.0 THE CUMBRIA CONTEXT

The national average rate for DoLS applications is 492 applications received per 
100,000 adults. The number of applications received in Cumbria has been lagging 
behind the national average. During the reporting year 2015-16, Cumbria reported 
1005 applications received. During the reporting year 2016-17, only 492 applications 
were recorded as received for all of Cumbria. The current backlog of assessments in 
Cumbria is 1,394.

In Cumbria, from 2009 to October 2017, the DoLS function was delivered by the 
Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CPFT) under a service level 
agreement.

The decision was taken last year to bring the service back in house to achieve 
greater control over the delivery of the service, the responsibility of which ultimately 
lies with us as the local authority and supervisory body. The service was officially 
brought back in house in October 2017. Three new posts were created to oversee 
and administer the DoLS process including two DoLS Coordinators and one DoLS 
team manager.  6 Senior Managers in adult social care are currently responsible for 
signing off the DoLS authorisations applied for. We currently have 33 qualified, and 
active, BIAs employed by Cumbria County Council, three of which are employed to 
do BIA work full time and 30 BIAs based in locality teams who complete BIA 
assessments on a rota basis and have other social work duties to perform.

4.0 CURRENT VOLUME OF DOLS WORK IN CUMBRIA

We currently have 1,394 outstanding DoLS applications.  Volume of referrals is 
increasing.  A possible explanation for this is the work undertaken to provide 
information to the care homes and hospitals encouraging them to make DoLS 
referrals as appropriate.  We also link with the local advocacy provider, People First, 
the Quality Care Governance Team, local social work teams and team managers, to 
provide information about DoLS and to increase awareness and knowledge of DoLS 
in general and in relation to Cumbria Care homes. As the in house provider Cumbria 
Care referrals for people in their residential care teams have to be assessed by BIAs 
and doctors who are independent of and external to the Council. This is currently 
undertaken by and independent company ‘Action First’ through a framework 
agreement.

46



Due to the significant level of demand and the fact that our current resource is 
unable to meet all of the demand, we have taken the decision that we will only 
assess referrals classed as High priority.
 
We follow the ADASS screening tool, which suggests that cases are classed as High 
if;

 the person is objecting or appears to be objecting (verbally or non-verbally) to 
their care arrangements

 a family member or a relative is objecting to the care arrangement
 the person is receiving their medications covertly
 high levels of restraint are being used, for example continuous 1:1 care
 the situation is a new or unstable placement and there is a possible challenge 

to Court of Protection 

47



0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Allerdale Barrow Carlisle Copeland Eden South
Lakeland

Out of
County

Withdrawn 37 57 38 30 12 44 60
To Be Priortised 70 91 79 47 16 108 104
Low 112 113 104 75 22 155 115
Medium 131 125 116 80 26 172 126
High 193 188 185 116 36 270 171

Number of Referrals  By Referring District and Priority -
Since October 2017 to 11 June 2018

N
um

be
r o

f R
ef

er
ra

ls

48



Due to the volume of referrals received and other recent demands on the service, 
there is currently a backlog of referrals to be prioritised. We are aware of the issue 
and currently looking at ways to address this by utilising the DoLS coordinators more 
in the process.    

5.0 ANALYSIS OF DOLS ACTIVITY

Each DoLS authorisation requires six separate assessments to be completed. Two 
assessors are required, a Mental Health Assessor (Section 12 qualified doctor) and 
a BIA.  Research carried out in Cornwall suggested that it takes a BIA 12 hours on 
average to complete their assessments. In Cumbria, the feedback we are receiving 
from our BIAs is that it often takes them closer to 15 hours per assessment.  

We currently have 33 qualified, and active, BIAs employed by Cumbria County 
Council, three of which are employed to do BIA work full time and 30 BIAs based in 
locality teams who complete BIA assessments on a rota basis and have other social 
work duties to perform. 

Since October, we have completed 254 BIA assessments. Out of these, 180 
assessments were completed by BIAs employed by the Council. We currently 
contract with an independent organisation, Action First, to complete Cumbria Care 
home applications and out of county applications. Action First also currently provide 
all Mental Health Assessors. This is a temporary arrangement until we have 
developed our own framework to contract with the doctors directly. Previously the 
Mental Health Assessors and BIAs for Cumbria Care homes were provided via 
CPFT.

49



5.1. BIA capacity 

The plan in October was that the BIA rota would yield between 9-12 assessments 
per week. Each locality BIA was asked to be on the rota for one week, once every 
eight weeks, and during their week on the rota, to complete three assessments as a 
minimum. There are between 3 - 4 BIAs on the rota each week.

In practice, 91 assessments have been completed by the rota BIAs since October, 
an average of 2,5 assessments per week in total. The BIAs have fed back that this is 
due to the assessments taking longer to complete than anticipated and competing 
and urgent work pressures taking up time originally meant for DoLS work. 

The full time BIAs have, since October, completed 89 assessments. The full-time 
BIAs tend to work on the most complex cases, which are often party to Court of 
Protection proceedings. It is acknowledged that these cases tend to take more time 
to complete than less complex cases. The full time BIAs spent most of November 
prioritising assessments, providing shadowing opportunities and practical support for 
the new BIA students trained in October. Staff sickness also impacted on the full 
time BIAs availability up until February. These factors meant a reduction in the 
amount of assessments completed. 

50



Steps taken to support the BIAs include a plan to train more BIAs across the county 
and engaging team managers to ensure that they provide protected time for the BIAs 
to complete their assessments. Regular BIA forums and peer supervision sessions 
are also now available for the BIAs as well as the opportunity for individual 
supervision on an as required-basis, to support with any difficult casework. Regular 
training will also be available, including BIA refresher training and newly 
commissioned BIA report writing training.

6.0SIGNING OFF DoLS APPLICATIONS

We have recently trained 6 senior managers to act as signatories. It is estimated that 
the signing off process takes about an hour for each case. It was hoped that each 
signatory would be able to sign off three assessments per week. However, the new 
signatories have found it difficult to accommodate this work within their existing 
workload demands. As a result, there have been delays in the signing off process. 

In order to assist the signatories, the DoLS Coordinators read through the DoLS 
assessment forms first and correct typing errors or any other mistakes. The DoLS 
manager also carries out quality checks on the assessments (in the form of random 
spot checks), reading through them and commenting on the content, in an effort to 
support the overall quality control process. The DoLS manager is also available to 
discuss any cases on an individual basis with the signatories.

7.0 DoLS STEERING GROUP

51



The DoLS Steering Group was set up to monitor the transfer of DoLS back to the 
local authority and respond to operational delivery issues or concerns. At the last 
DoLS Steering Group in March 2018 we agreed to review the future of the group.  It 
was agreed we needed a multi-agency response to ensuring that the requirements of 
the Mental Capacity Act more broadly, including the DoLS were embedded in 
practice, training and learning.  It also recognised the learning from a number of 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews which have concluded a need to improve practice 
relating to the Mental Capacity Act.  The plan is to develop a Mental Capacity Act 
multi-agency group to consider how we apply the requirements of the Act across the 
various agencies involved, monitor the  statutory requirements of the Act, for 
example Independent Mental Capacity Advocates, training across organisations and 
performance against the requirements of the DoLS.  It is anticipated that the current 
DoLS Steering Group will become an internal delivery group monitoring and guiding 
our DoLS practice.

8.0 CORPORATE RISK AND LEGAL CHALLENGES

Further discussions are underway to include the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
into the Corporate risk register in recognition of the risks and potential litigation 
associated with the safeguards if not applied appropriately.  To date we have had 
two legal claims against the Council regarding the application of DoLS.  One of the 
claims has been settled with compensation and the other claim is in negotiations at 
the moment.

There have been 24 Court of Protection cases which have been challenged by the 
relevant person or their representative under Section 21A of the Mental Capacity Act 
2005 since the start of 2017, of these:
- 7 have resulted in the individual remaining in their placement
- 3 have resulted in a move to alternative placements
- The other 14 are still ongoing and outcomes aren’t known
All of these cases involve substantial work by the Legal, DoLS and social work 
teams.

It is estimated that the potential cost of unauthorised deprivations can be as high as 
£1000 per week (based on limited case law, and depending on the circumstances).  
Each DoLS referral that isn’t assessed, potentially carries this risk, regardless of the 
priority they have been assigned. 

9.0 LAW COMMISSION REVIEW 

In 2014, the House of Lords Select Committee on the Mental Capacity Act 2005 
described DoLS as not fit for purpose, poorly drafted and overly complex. As a 
result, the Government asked the Law Commission to review the Mental Capacity 
Act and DoLS. The Law Commission’s final report and draft Bill were published in 

52



March 2017. The Law Commission recommends that DoLS are repealed as a matter 
of urgency, and are replaced by a new scheme called the Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (LPS). The Government responded to the report on 14.03.18 and agreed 
with the proposed LPS model. They have commissioned a review into the Mental 
Health Act so the interface between the Mental Health Act and Mental Capacity Act 
will be considered as part of that review. The Government also want to ensure that 
LPS fit with the future direction of the health and social care sector and will work 
through the recommendations and engage further with stakeholders particularly on 
implementation. They will bring forward legislation to implement the model when 
parliamentary time allows.

The intention is to streamline the process for assessing whether a deprivation of 
liberty is necessary, and obtaining the required authorisation. LPS would also 
authorise arrangements and conditions for a person’s care or treatment, rather than 
simply authorising a deprivation of liberty. The DoLS requirement for six 
assessments would be removed. Under the proposed scheme, when there is a 
potential deprivation of liberty, the responsible body – the NHS body or local 
authority - arranges three assessments: a capacity assessment, a medical 
assessment, and a ‘necessary and proportionate’ assessment. They must also 
consult with friends and family of the relevant person. Each case is verified by an 
“independent reviewer”, and those where the placement is contrary to the person’s 
wishes are referred to an Approved Mental Capacity Professional (AMCP). The 
scheme also provides for statutory review of the deprivation of liberty, as well as the 
provision of an advocate or appropriate person to represent and support them both 
during the initial authorisation process and during the period of the placement. 
The new scheme would extend beyond hospitals and care homes, removing the 
need for deprivations of liberty to be authorised by the Court of Protection in other 
settings such as sheltered accommodation. It also extends the process to 16 and 17 
year olds, whereas DoLS only apply to those aged 18 and over. The draft Mental 
Capacity (Amendment) Bill would implement the Law Commission’s 
recommendations by amending the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and would apply to 
England and Wales.

10.0 ACTIONS TAKEN

There is no escaping the fact that the current volume of DoLS applications exceeds 
our current capacity to assess and process them.  However, after bringing the 
service back in house we have gained more control and oversight over the process 
and are hence better able to direct our resources where they are most needed. 

In order to address the challenges of the current situation we have identified key 
areas for improvement. We have been able to action improvements in some of these 
areas whilst continuing to developing plans for further improvements.  We are liaising 
with different staff groups within the council, as well as developing links to external 
organisations. Examples of the kind of work undertaken are;

53



 Monthly DoLS Steering Group meetings
 Liaising with the Quality Care Governance Team to flag up any concerns 

arising from the DoLS work, relating to any specific care homes
 Liaising with team managers via Team Manager forums
 Linking with the commissioning team, which resulted in the addition of DoLS 

specific requirements included in the new framework contract 
 Ongoing work around a new DoLS IAS module
 Quarterly BIA forums now up and running
 Peer supervision for BIAs in each locality (North, West, South)
 Offer of individual professional supervision to BIAs (by full time BIAs and 

DoLS team manager)
 The management of the 3 full time BIAs transferred under the DoLS Team 

Manager as of 1st of June 
 Plans to train more BIAs on a regular basis
 Offer of support for team managers to discuss DoLS related queries
 We have established an effective working relationship with our legal 

department, the DoLS team alerts the legal team to any cases of concern and 
our legal department alerts the DoLS team to any cases with ongoing Court of 
Protection proceedings which need to be actioned as a priority 

 Linking with People First, we have streamlined the administrative process for 
referring  DoLS applications for Independent Mental Capacity Advocates 
(IMCAs) and receiving reports form People First, we also work jointly to 
identify and to address any potential for improvement  in the DoLS service 

 There are plans to develop strengthened links to the Managing Authorities, for 
example, the DoLS manager will be linking with the Registered Managers’ 
networks for South and North of Cumbria

 We now have an updated Cumbria County Council website with basic 
information for care homes and our new contact details  
(http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/dols/ ) 

 We have produced an information leaflet about DoLS for Managing 
Authorities (this has been sent to all care homes)

 We have registered as a stakeholder and have contributed to the new 
upcoming NICE guidelines on ‘Decision making and mental capacity’

 Work has been done on the DoLS forms to make them clearer and more user 
friendly for care homes, BIAs and customers

11.0 FUTURE RECOMMENDATIONS

Whilst the timescale for the future Liberty Safeguards is unknown, it is clear that the demand 
for work in this area will remain high. Indeed the Liberty Safeguards will apply to a larger 
group of customers; widening the age range from 16 onwards (rather than the current 18) 
and applying to situations not only in care homes and hospitals but in the community as well.

Hence any investment in the current DoLS process is likely to place Cumbria in a better 
position for future developments as well.  

54

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/dols/


Suggestions to consider going forward:

 Our first priority needs to be increasing the capacity to carry out BIA assessments. 
This will have a financial impact, as each BIA assessment will require us to 
commission the other relevant assessments from the Mental Health Assessors 
(doctors).

 To review the way the BIA rota and allocation are done (already underway)
 To train more practitioners as BIAs
 We could consider a reward programme, whereby staff are given a financial reward 

for completing additional BIA assessments outside their usual working hours. (The 
details of this would need to be carefully considered.)

 If we are successful in increasing the volume of BIA assessments completed, we will 
need more administrative support as well in the form of an additional DoLS 
coordinator post 

 Similarly, if we are successful in increasing the volume of completed assessments, 
creating a DoLS signatory post would assist in responding to the demand and would 
ease the pressure on the current signatories

 We could consider ADASS ‘desktop assessments’ for low priority DoLS referrals. 
This means the BIA completes their assessment without visits, based on phone calls 
and paperwork. It is a concept developed by ADASS in an effort to ease the pressure 
on local authorities. There are no known cases yet of desktop assessments being 
legally challenged or tested so they remain an unknown risk at present. 

 As we are currently only able to assess the high priority referrals, plans are being 
developed to refer the medium and low priority DoLS referrals to the community 
teams for a care plan review. This way, it is hoped, any concerns can be picked up 
via  the Care Act process and if necessary, the DoLS process can be re-started for 
the individual if there are concerns of any kind.

55



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – ADULTS

Meeting date: 28th June 2018

From: Adrienne Halliwell, Senior Manager Safeguarding

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS AT RISK OF ABUSE AND NEGLECT

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

 To provide an update and analysis of adult safeguarding activity for the 12 months 
of 2017/18. 

 To brief Members on progress against the key areas of performance relating to 
Making Safeguarding Personal. 

 To describe the actions planned to strengthen and consolidate improvements in 
Adult Safeguarding in Cumbria.

2.0 ISSUES FOR SCRUTINY

2.1 Volume of Concerns / Enquiries reported – age group 

There were 1336 Individuals associated with the total 1613 Episodes of Safeguarding 
Concerns /Enquiries which were raised in the quarters of 2017/18. This evidences that 
some people have more than one episode in the period.

The split between the quarters is as follows:

Individuals Episodes Raised
Quarter 1 – 315 334
Quarter 2 –  388 408
Quarter 3 –  417 453
Quarter 4 –   389 418
Totals:      -- 1512 1613

Previous reports, whilst correctly reporting the total number of individuals supported in 
the full period, unfortunately understated the number of people referred again for further 
episodes in subsequent quarters. E.g. If one individual has episode/s started in each 
quarter, they should be counted four times.   The total number of individuals supported in 
the 17/18 period is 1336. This is an average of 378 individuals per quarter in the 17/18 
period. Comparison with 16/17 average shows that this is 23% increase on the number 
of individuals entering the service per quarter.  

In addition the average number of Episodes raised in 17/18 is 403 per quarter which is a 
22% increase on the 16/17 average of 329 per quarter.

57

Agenda Item 9



Graph 1: Age band, total number of Individuals per quarter

Table 1: Age band – Total Individuals – 1336 -, 2017/18 – As per Safeguarding Adults Return (SAC) 17/18 

Age Band 18-64 65-74 75-84 85-94 95+ Grand 
total

Individuals Involved In 
Safeguarding Concerns 292 89 221 268 49 928

Individuals Involved In 
Section 42 Safeguarding 
Enquiries

177 53 83 80 12 405

Individuals Involved In 
Other Safeguarding 
Enquiries

2 0 1 0 0 3

Totals: 471 151 305 348 61 1336

Section 42 Enquiries relate to individuals who:

 have needs for care and support (whether or not the local authority is meeting any 
of those needs)

 are experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect
 as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from 

either the risk of, or the experience of abuse or neglect

Safeguarding Enquiries can still be undertaken for those individuals who do not meet the 
above s.42 criteria in situations where it is believed it would be in their interests to do so.  
We will continue to ensure that practitioners across the sector are aware that an enquiry 
can still progress if deemed appropriate even when individuals do not meet all of the s.42 
requirements.

58



Sources of Concerns /Enquiries
Quarter 1 

17/18
Quarter 2 

17/18
Quarter 3 

17/18
Quarter 4 

17/18 Grand Total
Health Staff 62 67 91 77 297

Brampton War Memorial Hospital 0 1 0 0 1
Carleton Clinic Carlisle 7 4 15 4 30
Cockermouth Community Hospital 0 0 3 0 3
Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 6 10 12 12 40
Furness General Hospital 6 5 6 7 24
Keswick Community Hospital 0 0 1 0 1
Maryport Victoria Cottage Hospital 2 0 0 0 2
Mental Health Staff 20 9 18 13 60
Not Recorded 0 0 16 22 38
Not RecordedMental Health Staff 0 0 0 1 1
Penrith Community Hospital 3 4 0 1 8
West Cumberland Hospital 4 10 6 4 24
Westmorland General Hospital 2 6 4 3 15
Wigton Community Hospital 2 0 2 0 4
Workington Community Hospital 2 4 2 4 12
CCG 4 8 2 0 14
GP 4 6 4 6 20

Social Care Staff (CASSR & Independent) 104 141 147 140 532
Day Care Staff 5 5 3 10 23
Domicilliary Staff 21 20 21 19 81
Other 3 9 12 8 32
Residential Care Staff 55 78 66 64 263
Self-Directed Care Staff 0 1 0 1 2
Social Worker / Care Manager 20 28 45 38 131

Police 43 47 38 40 168
Family Member 17 19 13 24 73
Other 74 97 116 87 374
Education / Training / Workplace Establishment 0 0 1 1 2
Care Quality Commission 4 9 1 6 20
Friend / Neighbour 4 1 2 5 12
Housing 3 1 7 3 14
Other Service User 1 0 2 0 3
Self Referral 4 5 4 2 15
Pre System Update -Data  not Collected at That Time 18 21 31 33 103
Grand Total 334 408 453 418 1613

2.2 SOURCE OF CONCERNS

In 17/18 1613 concerns were raised showing 33% by Social Care Staff, 18% by Health 
sources, 11% Police and 5% from Family/ Neighbour/Friends. This is a distinct pattern 
shift from 16/17 for Social Care 15%, Health 23%   whilst Police was similar at 9%.

The table below presents details of the referral sources of the concerns. 

Table 2: Source of Concerns / Enquiries started in Period.

It is positive to note that members of the public, family members and friends are raising 
concerns demonstrating an awareness of safeguarding and how to raise a concern.

2.3 Episodes BY TYPE OF ABUSE

59



From 1483 completed episodes in the 17/18 period, a profile of the range of types of 
abuse is provided in table 3.

Abuse types are currently categorised under 12 main groups (reported nationally), and in 
addition a further 8 categories are reported in Cumbria making 20 in total.  

When an episode is investigated an adult at risk can be identified at being at risk of any 
multiples of these categories. The following data table therefore can only be a 
proportional picture of the types of abuse identified. 

Table 3: Enquiries by type of abuse

Values
Allerdale Copeland Furness

South 
Lakeland

Carlisle Eden
Grand 
Total

Percentage of 
Main Abuse 

Groups

Physical 110 50 113 121 140 82 616 32.61%
Sexual 27 15 32 27 27 7 135 7.15%
Emotional and Psycological 62 24 63 25 49 35 258 13.66%
Finacial 62 38 76 42 69 20 307 16.25%
Discriminatory 0 1 0 0 2 1 4 0.21%
Organisational 23 9 10 12 13 1 68 3.60%
Neglect and Acts of Omission 74 64 40 67 80 59 384 20.33%
Domestic Abuse 10 9 15 12 11 5 62 3.28%
Sexual Exploitation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
Modern Slavery 1 0 0 1 0 0 2 0.11%
Self Neglect 22 6 4 3 15 3 53 2.81%
Disability and Hate Crimes 2 0 1 0 2 1 6 0.32%

Total Maing Abuse Groups 391 216 353 310 406 213 1889 100%
Honour based Violence /Forced Marriage 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
InternetScamming 0 1 0 2 2 0 5
Cyber Bullying 0 0 0 4 0 1 5
Human Trafficking 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Forced Labour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Domestic Servitude 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Pressure Ulcers 12 15 3 12 11 7 60
Slavery 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

These proportions are not significantly different to the findings in previous years and on 
the whole are similar when compared with North West Local Authorities (To Qtr. 3 17/18). 

It is recognised that some abuse types are being reported directly to organisations such 
as the police or trading standards but are not being reported to safeguarding.  In order to 
seek assurance that there are effective mechanisms in place to both prevent and 
respond to these types of abuse, Cumbria Safeguarding Adults Board is developing 
stronger links with its strategic partners to strengthen reporting mechanisms.  For 
example, the Performance and Quality Assurance Sub-Group of the Board received a 
presentation from the County Council’s Trading Standards Team to provide information 
on the nature and prevalence of scamming and fraud in Cumbria.  Information was also 
provided in respect of how these crimes are responded to and methods of awareness 
raising and prevention.  Information will be added to the CSAB website.

A member of the Trading Standards team has now joined the sub-group and will provide 
regular reports and updates as required.

60



2.4 CONCERNS PROGRESSING TO FULL ENQUIRIES

Table 4: Progression trend by District

 QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4

District
Progressed to 
Safeguarding 

Referral

Not 
progressed

Progressed to 
Safeguarding 

Referral

Not 
progressed

Progressed to 
Safeguarding 

Referral

Not 
progressed

Progressed to 
Safeguarding 

Referral

Not 
progressed

Allerdale 32.26% 67.74% 33.33% 66.67% 32.8% 67.2% 36.6% 63.4%

Carlisle 43.90% 56.10% 42.68% 57.32% 38.6% 61.4% 30.0% 70.0%

Copeland 25.00% 75.00% 48.15% 51.85% 33.0% 67.0% 27.1% 72.9%

Eden 34.88% 65.12% 22.22% 77.78% 29.5% 70.5% 22.2% 77.8%

Furness 22.95% 77.05% 31.43% 68.57% 29.9% 70.1% 31.1% 68.9%

South 
Lakeland 34.78% 65.22% 14.29% 85.71% 25.0% 75.0% 28.9% 71.1%

16/17 was the first year national comparisons were available for progression rates. 

It is clear that different operating models are employed by local authorities (supported by 
discussion in forum with North West Performance leads), indicating that there is no 
defined national performance expectation.  

From 16/17 to 17/18 - Cumbria’s profile shows that on average 30% of all Concerns 
progressed to a full Enquiry.

The profile for Cumbria at Quarter 4 17/18 is follows:

Graph 1: Progression trend by District

   

61



2.5 MAKING SAFEGUARDING PERSONAL (MSP)

This measurement is derived from the completion of the making safeguarding personal 
questionnaires on completion of an enquiry.

Whilst levels of achievement have fluctuated during the 17/18 period, the latter two 
quarters findings indicate an upward improving rate of achievement for individuals. Fully 
achieved is now at its highest at 50% and no recording of individuals being unable to 
answer. 

Levels of those Fully and Partially achieving in the 17/18 period are averaging at 80% 
with a peak of 84% at Qtr. 4 17/18.  This is a distinct improvement on the 16/17 period 
where these levels averaged around 60%.

Graph 4: Completed Enquiries – Percentage of number of Individuals whose desired outcomes have been achieved to 
Quarter Four 17/18 – From client responses to the Making Safeguarding Personal Feedback Questionnaires

Making Safeguarding Personal is one of the key areas of adult safeguarding and is 
incorporated into the Care Act 2014.  Often referred to as MSP, it means that all 
safeguarding interventions should be person-led and outcome-focused.  It engages the 
person in a conversation about how best to respond to their safeguarding situation in a 
way that enhances involvement, choice and control as well as improving quality of life, 
wellbeing and safety.

This is an area of safeguarding where we can truly measure our performance against the 
6 principles of adult safeguarding.  The data provided in this section is in response to 
feedback provided by the people who have been the subject of a safeguarding 

62



intervention as to whether they were supported to achieve the outcomes they had 
identified but also regarding the safeguarding experience from their perspective 
recognising that every individual is unique and this should be reflected in the intervention.  
The intervention should be proportionate and empowering wherever possible.

Graph 5: Satisfaction level Quarter 4 17/18

 
 

 

 

63



3.0   RISK OUTCOME FOLLOWING INTERVENTION

Over the reporting period the removal of the risk to the individual has been improving 
from 36% at Qtr. 1 17/18 of the cases to an improved position of 43% at Qtr. 4 17/18. 

This data is indicative of a well performing service.  Cumbria compares well against 
Quarter 3 17/18 benchmarking with the North West partners being one of the top 3 out of 
21 Local Authorities whose risk removal rate was greater than 40%.

It is important to note that in many instances risk cannot be completely removed and that 
also some people will choose to live with a degree of risk as the measures that may be 
required to significantly remove risk may be perceived as too restrictive on life style or 
other important well- being measures.  Safeguarding plans should support the individual 
to stay as much in control of their life as possible and recognise that the right to safety 
needs to be balanced with other rights, such as rights to liberty, autonomy and rights to 
family life.

Graph 6: Risk outcome following intervention

Data Source:  
Figures, percentages and comparisons are drawn from the findings collated for in house operational reports, national 
reporting return requirements and comparative resources provided as a result from NHS Digital having made returns 
on the SAC – Safeguarding Adults Collection return and in partnership with the North West Performance Leads 
representing 23 North West Local Authorities.

64



4.0     UPDATE FROM CUMBRIA SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (CSAB)

4.1      Strengthened Governance arrangements:

 The sub-groups of the Board are now established following a review of the 
membership and terms of reference.  There are 4 sub-groups, Communications, 
Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR), Performance and Quality Assurance and 
Learning and Development.  To strengthen governance, each sub-group is 
Chaired by a SAB Executive Board member.

 A highlight reporting process has been introduced to support sub-group chairs 
report quarterly to the Board on progress against the strategic priorities.  The 
highlight report includes an action log to track and monitor progress.

 CSAB now has a dedicated email address for all Board related business and 
receive communication directly.

 A second lay member has now been appointed to the Board to fill the vacancy that 
arose last year.  The role of the lay member is to provide independent public 
challenge to the Board as well as provide a direct link to the public and third 
sector.

4.2      Improved Communication and awareness raising:

 A media briefing to introduce Jeanette McDiarmid, Independent Chair, was held in 
May.  This was published widely in the local press and on the radio.  At the same 
time there was a formal launch of the new CSAB website and Twitter account.

 Practitioners across all of the partner organisations received a formal newsletter to 
raise the profile of the Board and introduce the website and contact details.

 Regular 5 minute briefings and newsletters will remain a key feature and be used 
to share learning and information.

 The Communication and Engagement sub-group will review all public facing 
literature to be distributed across key locations including libraries and G.P 
surgeries.

4.3    Policies and Procedures:
 The guidance paper and procedure relating to Safeguarding Adult Reviews has 

been updated and approved by the Board.  Improved systems are in place to 
receive referrals and monitor and audit progress/decisions.

 A new guidance document on Self-Neglect has been approved by the Board and 
placed on the website.

 A new policy document and procedure in relation to dealing with concerns relating 
to ‘people in positions of trust’ has been approved and placed on the website.  The 
term people in positions of trust is a term defined by the Care Act 2015 and relates 
predominantly to people who work in the health or care sector in any organisation.

65



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD - ADULTS

Meeting date: 28 June 2018

From: Policy and Scrutiny Team

ADULTS SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD BRIEFING

1.0 PURPOSE OF PAPER

1.1. This briefing paper informs members of new or updated items of significance 
to the Adult Scrutiny Advisory Board.

2.0 ITEMS ARISING FROM FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS             

(1 JULY 2018 – 31 AUGUST 2018)

2.1 There are no key decisions for consideration by the Adults Scrutiny Advisory 
Board on the forward plan at time of writing.

3.0 PERFORMANCE WORKING GROUP

3.1 The Scrutiny Performance Working Group meets quarterly to scrutinise a 
single high level corporate report containing information drawn from the 16 
Service Plan performance reports. The single report enables the group to 
focus on overall corporate performance, risk and budget, including progress 
against Council Plan priorities.

3.2 The Group met on the 10th May and received an update on the performance 
of the reablement service, the group were shown regional and national 
comparison data which showed that Cumbria’s performance is relatively 
stable.

3.3 Members also examined Opiate Drug Treatment Performance for which the 
Director for Public Health (DPH) was in attendance.

3.4 The next meeting of the Scrutiny Performance Working Group is scheduled 
for the 5th July.

67

Agenda Item 10



4.0 JOINT HEALTH AND ADULTS ADVISORY GROUP

4.1 The Joint Advisory Group held a development session with members on the 
4th May, independently facilitated by Stephen Singleton from the Cumbria 
Learning and Improvement Collaborative.

4.2 The next meeting will on the Care Quality Commission (CQC) Review of the 
Health and Care System in Cumbria and the action plan being developed in 
response to the CQC report. 

5.0 WORK PROGRAMME

5.1 Members are invited to consider the updated scrutiny work programme as it 
stands at June 2018.  Please see Appendix 1 attached.

David Stephens – Strategic Policy & Scrutiny Advisor
david.stephens@cumbria.gov.uk

June 2018
________________________________________________________________

Group Meeting Date Topic
Friday 29th June 2018 
10:00am  – 3:00pm

CQC Local System Review and Delayed 
Transfers of Care;

Friday 26th October 2018 
10:00am  – 3:00pm

Implementation of Integrated Care 
Communities across Cumbria and links 
to Accountable Care;

Thursday 31st January 2019 
10:00am – 3:00pm

Cumbria Adults’ Mental Health Strategy;

68

mailto:david.stephens@cumbria.gov.uk


ADULT SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD

Issue Notes Lead Officer Timeline

Cumbria Care 
Modernisation Phase 2

To provide oversight of the consultation on phase 2 of 
the modernisation of Cumbria Care.

David Stephens TBCScrutiny 
Review Task & 
Finish Groups Health and Adult Social 

Care
Joint ongoing Advisory Group with the Cumbria Health 
Scrutiny Committee to review the progress of integrating 
Health and Care, To understand the challenges and 
risks to the Council and how these are being addressed. 

David Stephens Advisory 
Group 
underway

Day Services Review Topic identified for consideration by Scrutiny by the 
Health, Care & Communities Directorate. Role of 
Scrutiny to be defined  

Jo Atkinson October 
Board 
Meeting

Extra Care Housing 
Strategy Review

Scrutiny input into the review of the Strategy, need to 
confirm timings

Jo Atkinson October 
Board 
Meeting

Safeguarding Adults at risk 
from abuse and neglect

Standing Item for each board meeting, report to 
incorporate information on Domestic Homicide reviews 
and links to Safeguarding 

Adrienne 
Halliwell

Ongoing 
Standing 
Item

Items for 
Future Board 
Meetings

Board Briefing To consider items not covered elsewhere in the Board 
agenda, report from Performance Working Group and to 
agree work programme 

David Stephens Ongoing 
Standing 
Item

Appendix 1

69



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES
	6 Adult Social Care Charging Policy
	7 Social Work Practice - New ways of working - Strength Based Approach
	strength based practice v0

	8 Deprivation of Liberty Standards.
	9 Safeguarding Adults at risk from abuse and neglect
	10 Adult Scrutiny Advisory Board Briefing
	Appendix 1 SABA 28/6 Adult Scrutiny Advisory Board Briefing


